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JURISDICTION 

This appeal is from a final order dismissing plaintiffs-appellants’ defamation 

and related claims under the D.C. Anti-Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participa-

tion (Anti-SLAPP) Act, D.C. Code §§ 16-5501-5505.  This Court has jurisdiction 

under D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1). 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

1. Did the Superior Court correctly hold that the D.C. Anti-SLAPP Act 

does not violate the Home Rule Act, D.C. Code § 1-206.02, or the First Amendment?  

2. Did the Superior Court correctly hold that plaintiffs, Col. (Ret.) L. Mor-

gan Banks III, Col. (Ret.) Debra L. Dunivin, and Col. (Ret.) Larry C. James, were 

public officials subject to the New York Times v. Sullivan actual malice standard? 

3. Did the Superior Court correctly hold that plaintiffs failed to show that 

a reasonable jury could find, by clear and convincing evidence, that defendants 

Sidley Austin LLP, Sidley Austin (DC) LLP, and Sidley partner David H. Hoffman 

(“Sidley”) made any allegedly false statement about them with actual malice in sub-

mitting an independent investigative report (“Report”) to their client the American 

Psychological Association (“APA”) in 2015? 

4. (a)  Did the Superior Court correctly hold that plaintiffs failed to show 

that a reasonable jury could find that APA’s 2018 changes to a page on its website 

and an email hyperlinking to that page republished Sidley’s 2015 Report? 
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 (b)  Can this Court affirm the decision as to Sidley on the alternative 

ground that an alleged 2018 republication by a third party of Sidley’s 2015 Report 

as a matter of law cannot constitute evidence of actual malice as to Sidley?1 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Nature of the Case 

The D.C. Anti-SLAPP Act was enacted to promote free speech by protecting 

defendants who express views on issues of public interest from SLAPP suits brought 

to “prevent” such speech.  Competitive Enter. Inst. v. Mann, 150 A.3d 1213, 1226 

(D.C. 2016).  This case exemplifies the need for such protection.  In 2015 Sidley 

submitted the Report to its client APA concerning hotly debated issues over APA’s 

and psychologists’ roles in connection with national security interrogations of de-

tainees during the government’s War on Terror in the 2000s.  APA published the 

Report to its members and the public.  Unhappy with the Report’s conclusions, plain-

tiffs attacked the Report in multiple ways, including in this lawsuit. 

Sidley attorneys worked for eight months on the investigation, interviewing 

roughly 150 witnesses, conducting over fifty follow-up interviews, and reviewing 

                                                 
 
1 Plaintiffs also contend that if the actual malice standard does not apply they pre-
sented sufficient evidence on negligence to defeat Sidley’s anti-SLAPP motion.  
Br. 1, 45-47.  This argument is inapplicable.  Sidley’s anti-SLAPP motion was based 
on plaintiffs’ public official status and inability to establish actual malice; it was not 
based on the negligence issue. 
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more than 50,000 documents.  They produced a 541-page Report including 2,577 

supporting footnotes and accompanied by 7,600 pages of publicly available exhibits.  

It covered a large number of topics, only some involving these plaintiffs.  Acknowl-

edging this comprehensive, extensively disclosed investigative work, and the judg-

ment calls required to synthesize and present the extensive information collected, 

the Superior Court dismissed plaintiffs’ defamation and related claims under the 

D.C. Anti-SLAPP Act.  The court held that plaintiffs are public officials and rejected 

their claims that Sidley or APA had made false statements about them with “actual 

malice”—that is, with knowledge of falsity or while subjectively entertaining serious 

doubts as to the truth.  See St. Amant v. Thompson, 390 U.S. 727, 731 (1968).  

The Superior Court was correct: plaintiffs failed to make the required show-

ing.  As the court recognized, defamation plaintiffs cannot “show actual malice in 

the abstract; they must demonstrate actual malice in conjunction with a false defam-

atory statement.”  Tavoulareas v. Piro, 817 F.2d 762, 794 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (en banc) 

(emphases added and omitted); JA2219.  Plaintiffs largely ignore this requirement.  

Their appellate brief relies on generalized innuendo, misstatements of the law and 

the record, and documents and affidavits that have nothing to do with showing that 

Sidley made any false statement about any plaintiff with actual malice.   

Plaintiffs’ brief specifically discusses only three passages in the Report (and 

quotes four words or word pairs that it calls “loaded terms,” see infra pp. 41-42 & 
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n.14).  Br. 10, 13, 53, 63.  The passages concern plaintiffs’ work with key APA 

officials in 2005, when plaintiffs were Army colonels and military psychologists, to 

ensure that APA’s new ethics guidance for psychologists supporting national secu-

rity interrogations was consistent with DoD’s guidance on the same topic.  See, e.g., 

JA  2246-47, 2249.  Plaintiffs claim that Sidley acted with actual malice by calling 

that DoD guidance “high-level” and “non-specific” when, plaintiffs say, it in fact 

strictly prohibited specific interrogation techniques.  Br. 10-11, 53, 63. 

Plaintiffs misread the Report to find a conflict with DoD guidance that does 

not exist and cite Department of Defense (“DoD”) policies and reports to highlight 

that nonexistent conflict.  They fail to show that a reasonable jury could find by clear 

and convincing evidence that Sidley made these statements, or any statement in the 

Report about them, with knowledge of falsity or subjective doubts as to truth.  That 

is no surprise given the scale and depth of Sidley’s investigation.  The judgment 

should be affirmed.  

Course of Proceedings and Decision Below 

Five plaintiffs filed a complaint for defamation and false light against Sidley 

and APA in D.C. Superior Court in August 2017 and a First Supplemental Complaint 

(“Complaint”) in February 2019.  The Superior Court in March 2019 ordered former 

plaintiffs Dr. Stephen Behnke and Dr. Russell Newman, former APA employees, to 

arbitrate their claims.  Behnke’s claims were resolved by agreement; the arbitrator 
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ruled against Newman on all his claims.  See Plfs’ Opp. to 12(b)(2) Mot. at 7, Apr. 

7, 2023, CA No. 1884CV01968-D, Mass. Super. Ct. (Suffolk Cty.). 

Retired Colonels Banks, Dunivin, and James are the remaining three plain-

tiffs.  Their Complaint is 115 pages long and contains 586 numbered paragraphs and 

thirteen counts.  JA233-348.  It attaches a forty-five-page exhibit listing 219 alleg-

edly false passages from Sidley’s Report.  JA349-93.  All counts against Sidley arise 

from Sidley’s submission of its Report to APA.2  Defendants moved under the Anti-

SLAPP Act to dismiss the original complaint in October 2017, JA432-734, and the 

supplemental complaint in March 2019, JA959-1081. 

Plaintiffs moved in January 2019 to invalidate the Anti-SLAPP Act; defend-

ants opposed.  The District of Columbia intervened to also oppose the motion.  The 

Superior Court denied the motion in January 2020.  JA2043-56. 

The court granted plaintiffs anti-SLAPP discovery in February 2019.3  In Feb-

ruary 2020, after the discovery and anti-SLAPP briefing were completed, the court 

held a hearing.  In March 2020, it issued an order and then an amended order granting 

                                                 
 
2 The Complaint includes counts about publication of the Report at different points 
in time up to September 4, 2015, e.g., JA325, 331, 335, and then an alleged August 
2018 republication, JA340-43.  Plaintiffs’ inability to show actual malice applies to 
all the publications and all the claims they asserted.  
3 Sidley produced roughly 31,000 pages of documents and former plaintiff Behnke’s 
work hard drive, and APA answered four interrogatories and produced more than 
22,000 pages of documents from the hard drive.  JA1179-80, ¶¶ 4-5. 
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the anti-SLAPP motions and dismissing plaintiffs’ claims with prejudice. 

The court held that D.C. law applied and that defendants were entitled to pro-

tection under the Anti-SLAPP Act because they were engaged in “advocacy on is-

sues of public interest.”  JA2204-07.  Plaintiffs do not challenge those conclusions 

on appeal.  The court ruled that plaintiffs failed to show a likelihood of success.  It 

first held that plaintiffs were “public officials” required to meet the actual malice 

standard under the First Amendment.  See JA2207-11.  It next held that plaintiffs 

failed “to proffer evidence that a reasonable jury could find to be clear and convinc-

ing proof that Defendants knew that facts stated in, or reasonably implied by, the 

Report were false or that they published the Report with reckless disregard of the 

falsity of these stated or implied facts.”  JA2214.  The court finally held that “there 

was no republication of the Report as a matter of law.”  JA2213.  Plaintiffs appealed. 

On September 7, 2023, a division of this Court reversed and remanded, hold-

ing that the discovery-limiting provisions of the D.C. Anti-SLAPP Act violate the 

Home Rule Act.  301 A.3d 685.  On January 23, 2024, the full Court vacated the 

opinion and ordered full briefing and argument.  308 A.3d 201(order). 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. The Controversy Regarding Psychologists’ Involvement in 
Abusive Interrogations of National Security Detainees. 

Following the 2004 disclosure of abuses of detainees at the Abu Ghraib prison 

and elsewhere, the use of “enhanced interrogation techniques” came under intense 
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public scrutiny.  In November 2004, the New York Times reported a finding that 

“the American military has intentionally used psychological and sometimes physical 

coercion . . . on prisoners at Guantánamo Bay” and that military psychologists were 

“advis[ing] the interrogators” using these techniques.  N. Lewis, Red Cross Finds 

Detainee Abuse in Guantánamo, N.Y. Times, Nov. 30, 2004, JA476-77.  These 

disclosures created widespread controversy about the use of these techniques and 

psychologists’ participation in interrogations.  JA258, ¶ 70. 

B. The PENS Task Force. 

In response, APA established a task force to “explore the ethical dimensions 

of psychology’s involvement and the use of psychology in national security-related 

investigations.”  JA258, ¶ 71.  It “became known as the PENS Task Force, ‘PENS’ 

standing for Psychological Ethics and National Security.”  Id.  All three plaintiffs 

were involved in the Task Force’s formation or deliberations.  JA250, ¶ 45, JA259, 

¶ 73.  The press covered the meeting of the Task Force alongside new reporting 

about psychologists’ involvement in abusive interrogations.  See N. Lewis, Interro-

gators Cite Doctors’ Aid at Guantánamo, N.Y. Times, June 24, 2005, JA484-87. 

The Task Force met in Washington, D.C., from June 24 to 26, 2005.  JA259, 

¶ 75.  It then proposed ethics guidelines for psychologists involved in national secu-

rity interrogations, id., concluding that psychologists could be involved to make sure 

interrogations were “safe, legal, ethical, and effective,” JA499.  The APA Board of 
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Directors adopted the PENS Guidelines on July 1, 2005.  JA259-60, ¶ 77. 

C. Post-PENS Task Force Debate. 

In the years that followed, critics raised concerns about the Task Force and its 

guidelines, charging collusion between APA and the U.S. government to ensure con-

tinued psychologist involvement in national security interrogations despite the 

abuses.  JA237, ¶ 2, JA285, ¶ 176.  Public debate continued about psychologists’ 

participation in such interrogations.  “The issue was openly debated on [the APA] 

Council [of Representatives] floor and in numerous meetings, including a mini-con-

vention on the topic.”  JA274, ¶ 131; A. Fifield, Policy over Military Interrogations 

Divides Psychologists, Phila. Inquirer, Aug. 9, 2006, JA504. 

D. Plaintiffs’ Involvement in These Events. 

Plaintiffs Banks, Dunivin, and James were all psychologists and Army colo-

nels who served in senior positions.  See JA247-49, ¶¶ 39, 41-42.  Dunivin and James 

served in senior roles at Guantanamo Bay, and James also did so at Abu Ghraib.  Id.  

Banks served as the Director of Psychological Applications for the Army’s Special 

Operations Command; in that role, he “provided ethical as well as technical over-

sight for all Army Special Operations Psychologists.”  JA247, ¶ 39. 

The Complaint states that plaintiffs each played a “leading role” in “drafting 

policies and implementing training and oversight to prohibit and, as far as possible, 

prevent future abuses.”  JA239-40, ¶ 12, JA 272.  Dunivin and Banks drafted policies 
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governing psychologists consulting on interrogations at Guantanamo Bay, JA258, 

¶ 69, 270, ¶ 114, JA274, ¶ 129, and James and Banks investigated abuses at Abu 

Ghraib and “draft[ed] policies and institut[ed] procedures to prevent abusive inter-

rogations,” JA272-73, ¶¶ 123, 127.  Banks authored “the Army Inspector General’s 

report” on “detainee operations in Iraq and Afghanistan” and consulted on “a revi-

sion to the Army Field Manual” related to interrogation techniques.  JA273, ¶ 125. 

Banks and James were members of the PENS Task Force.  JA259, ¶ 73.  

Banks introduced the Task Force to DoD guidance he was drafting for military psy-

chologists supporting interrogations that included the “safe, legal, ethical, and effec-

tive” construct.  He successfully urged APA to do the same with its Task Force 

Guidelines.  JA491-93, 1883-93, 2466.  James observed in his memoir that “[t]he 

results of this blue-ribbon panel were controversial.”  JA512-13.  Dunivin, stationed 

at Guantanamo Bay at the time, made suggestions about the Task Force’s member-

ship.  JA250, ¶ 45.  Dunivin’s husband, former plaintiff Newman, participated in the 

Task Force as an observer without disclosing the marriage to all participants, for 

which he received public criticism.  JA297-98, ¶¶ 224-25. 

E. APA Retains Sidley To Conduct an Independent Investigation in 
Response to Publication of Pay Any Price. 

In 2014, New York Times reporter James Risen published the book Pay Any 

Price.  Among other topics, it discussed allegations that APA colluded with the gov-

ernment to support torture and that the outcome of the PENS Task Force in 2005 
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was a result of APA collusion with the government.  JA237, ¶¶ 2-3, JA671-72. 

In response to the controversy over Risen’s book, APA engaged Sidley to 

conduct an independent review of allegations regarding APA’s issuance of ethics 

guidance regarding interrogations and address whether “APA engaged in activity 

that would constitute collusion with the Bush administration to promote, support or 

facilitate the use of ‘enhanced’ interrogation techniques.”  JA1780.  APA asked 

Sidley to investigate “all the evidence” and go “wherever the evidence leads.”  

JA240, ¶ 15.  It was understood that APA intended to make the final Report publicly 

available.  JA241, ¶ 18. 

David Hoffman, a Sidley partner, led a team of Sidley lawyers.  JA2225.  Over 

eight months, Sidley interviewed roughly 150 witnesses, conducted over fifty fol-

low-up interviews, and reviewed over 50,000 documents.  JA2243-44.  In July 2015, 

Sidley submitted its Report, titled “Report to the Special Committee of the Board of 

Directors of the American Psychological Association: Independent Review Relating 

to APA Ethics Guidelines, National Security Interrogations, and Torture.”  It de-

tailed Sidley’s findings and the bases of its conclusions.  APA made the Report and 

7,600 pages of exhibits publicly available.  In September 2015, Sidley provided a 

revised version containing a small number of corrections shown in a seven-page er-

rata chart at the back of the Report, none about the three plaintiffs.  JA2779-85. 

Sidley reached a number of conclusions based on its review of the evidence.  
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Notwithstanding allegations from APA critics, the Report did not find that APA 

colluded with CIA, or that APA colluded with anyone to support torture.  JA2238, 

2282, 2304-05.  The Report did find that “key APA officials, principally the APA 

Ethics Director joined and supported at times by other APA officials, colluded with 

important DoD officials to have APA issue loose, high-level ethics guidelines that 

did not constrain DoD in any greater fashion than existing DoD interrogation 

guidelines.”  JA2246.  It did not find evidence that APA “knew about the existence 

of an interrogation program using ‘enhanced interrogation techniques,’” only that 

certain APA officials had been indifferent to the possibility.  JA2246.  The Report 

also concluded that former plaintiff Behnke, the APA Ethics Director, engaged in a 

long-term secret collaboration with DoD officials, including plaintiffs, to defeat 

APA resolutions that would have restricted military psychologists’ involvement in 

interrogations.  JA2273.  The Report also criticized the APA Ethics Committee and 

Ethics Department, whose members are not plaintiffs here, for their handling of 

ethics complaints against prominent national security psychologists.  JA2295. 

F. Post-Report Actions. 

Controversy over APA’s position regarding psychologists’ involvement in 

national security interrogations continued, including changes to APA policies in 

response to the Report and criticism of the Report by some.  This included efforts 

by some APA members to persuade APA to remove the Report from its website or 
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otherwise host criticisms of it, JA1078, which led to the APA Council of 

Representatives voting in August 2018 to make certain changes to a page on the 

APA website featuring a timeline of events, including adding hyperlinks to four 

documents critical of the Report, JA313.  An email from APA’s general counsel to 

the Council included a hyperlink to the timeline page.  Id.  Sidley was not involved 

in the website changes or the email.  JA313-16, ¶¶ 295-305. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

1. For the reasons stated in the District of Columbia’s en banc brief, the 

Anti-SLAPP Act does not violate the Home Rule Act or the First Amendment.  The 

D.C. Council has broad authority under the Home Rule Act to enact legislation, 

which it properly exercised here. By providing protections to defendants sued for 

their speech on public issues while permitting meritorious cases to proceed, the Act 

strikes an appropriate balance that does not violate litigants’ First Amendment rights.   

2. Sidley’s Report to APA, on issues concerning psychologists’ involve-

ment in national security interrogations, is an “[a]ct in furtherance of the right of 

advocacy on issues of public interest.”  D.C. Code § 16-5501(1).  Sidley thus satis-

fied the “prima facie showing” under the Anti-SLAPP Act, and the burden shifted 

to plaintiffs to demonstrate that their claims are “likely to succeed on the merits,” 

§ 16-5502(b), which mirrors the standard for defeating a summary judgment motion. 
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3. Plaintiffs qualify as public officials whose defamation claims are sub-

ject to the actual malice standard.  They are psychologists who, according to their 

Complaint, were U.S. Army colonels during the time covered by the Report.  They 

all admittedly took a leading role in creating and implementing policies for psy-

chologists’ support of national security interrogations during the War on Terror.  

They were also admittedly involved in APA’s efforts to address the appropriate role 

for government psychologists supporting interrogations amid emerging controver-

sies over that subject.  Under the standard applied by the U.S. Supreme Court and 

D.C. courts, all three plaintiffs are public officials. 

4. Plaintiffs’ claimed “direct evidence” of actual malice fails.  They rely 

on mischaracterizations and second-hand characterizations of the Report while 

largely avoiding addressing the Report’s actual text.  None of plaintiffs’ purported 

evidence shows that Sidley doubted any statements the Report made about them, let 

alone possessed the serious, subjective doubts required to establish actual malice. 

5. Plaintiffs’ claimed “circumstantial evidence” of actual malice also fails.  

The extensive scope of Sidley’s investigation belies plaintiffs’ accusations that it 

followed a “preconceived narrative,” which “fail[ed] to adhere to proper investiga-

tory practices,” “purposeful[ly] avoid[ed] the truth,” or relied only on “biased wit-

nesses.”  Br. 57-62.  Plaintiffs’ other “circumstantial evidence” arguments misstate 

the law and the record.  Their charges that the Superior Court failed to consider 
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evidence or usurped the role of the jury, id. 68-69, misstate the record as well. 

6. For the reasons stated in APA’s en banc brief, plaintiffs failed to present 

evidence for a reasonable jury to find either that APA’s changes to a website page 

in August 2018 or an email it sent about those changes amounted to republication of 

Sidley’s 2015 Report.  In the alternative, an alleged 2018 republication of the Report 

by someone else is not evidence of Sidley’s state of mind at the time of publication 

in 2015; it cannot support plaintiffs’ actual malice allegations against Sidley. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

All issues before this Court are questions of law subject to de novo review.  

See Unum Life Ins. Co. v. District of Columbia, 238 A.3d 222, 226 (D.C. 2020) 

(constitutional challenges); Thompson v. Armstrong, 134 A.3d 305, 312 (D.C. 2016) 

(public-official status); Mann, 150 A.3d at 1240 (whether a jury could find actual 

malice); Jankovic v. Int’l Crisis Grp., 494 F.3d 1080, 1086 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (whether 

a jury could find republication).  This Court may also affirm on any basis supported 

by the record.  See Wilburn v. District of Columbia, 957 A.2d 921, 924 (D.C. 2008). 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE ANTI-SLAPP ACT SHOULD NOT BE VOIDED. 

For the reasons set forth here and in the District of Columbia’s en banc brief 

in Argument Sections I and II and incorporated here by reference, the Anti-SLAPP 

Act does not violate either the Home Rule Act or the First Amendment. 
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Home Rule Act: The D.C. Council did not exceed its broad authority when 

enacting the Anti-SLAPP Act, which created a “substantive right” for those who 

face lawsuits for speaking on issues of public interest “to avoid the burdens and costs 

of pre-trial procedures.”  Mann, 150 A.3d at 1231.  The Act does not run directly 

contrary to D.C. Code § 11-946, the Title 11 provision concerning the rules of pro-

cedure.  That a substantive law affects court procedure “in a sense” does not render 

it an amendment to Section 11-946 that would violate the Home Rule Act.  Wood-

roof v. Cunningham, 147 A.3d 777, 782, 784 (D.C. 2016). 

First Amendment: In erroneously contending that the Anti-SLAPP Act is sub-

ject to “exacting scrutiny” because it infringes the right to petition, Br. 17, 32, plain-

tiffs misapprehend how the Act works.  It permits meritorious cases to proceed while 

requiring dismissal of only cases that lack merit as measured by the Rule 56 or Rule 

12 standards.  See Mann, 150 A.3d at 1232-33,1237, 1238 n.32; Am. Studies Ass’n 

v. Bronner, 259 A.3d 728, 750 (D.C. 2021).  Because “baseless litigation is not im-

munized by the First Amendment,” In re Yelverton, 105 A.3d 413, 421 n.8 (D.C. 

2014) (quotation omitted), the Act is not subject to strict scrutiny.   

Far from impairing “effective access to the courts,” Br. 14, the Anti-SLAPP 

Act “take[s] due account of the constitutional interests of the defendant who can 

make a prima facie claim to First Amendment protection and of the constitutional 

interests of the plaintiff who proffers sufficient evidence that the First Amendment 
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protections can be satisfied at trial.”  Mann, 150 A.3d at 1239.  The Act, therefore, 

“is not a sledgehammer meant to get rid of any claim against a defendant able to 

make a prima facie case that the claim arises from activity covered by the Act”; it 

instead ensures that “the constitutional right of a plaintiff who has presented evi-

dence that could persuade a jury to find in her favor is respected.”  Id. 

Plaintiffs assert that the Act violates the First Amendment because it “does 

not require a showing that a suit intends to punish or prevent expression.”  Br. 31.  

They emphasize that the Illinois anti-SLAPP statute requires such a showing to pre-

serve its constitutionality.  Id. 35.  But the D.C. Act has no need to import such a 

requirement.  Unlike D.C., Illinois does not ask whether a plaintiff has brought a 

“suit[ ] with reasonable merit.”  Sandholm v. Kuecker, 962 N.E.2d 418, 431 (Ill. 

2012).  Illinois instead decides an anti-SLAPP motion based on whether a plaintiff’s 

claims are “based on” a defendant’s speech.  Id.  The D.C. Act, by contrast, requires 

a determination whether a plaintiff is “likely to succeed on the merits.”  D.C. Code 

§ 16-5502(b).  That difference in structure preserves its constitutionality.   

Plaintiffs also challenge the Anti-SLAPP Act’s limitations on discovery and 

burden-shifting provisions.  Br. 37-38.  Neither renders the Act unconstitutional.  

See, e.g., Mann, 150 A.3d at 1239 (burden shifting appropriate to require plaintiff to 

establish case has merit); City of Hampton v. Williamson, 887 S.E.2d 555, 558-59 

(Va. 2023) (no general constitutional right to discovery in a civil case).  The Act’s 
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discovery provisions prioritize discovery concerning issues raised in an anti-SLAPP 

motion, see Mann, 150 A.3d at 1233, and ensure that such discovery is not “unduly 

burdensome,” § 16-5502(c)(2), a phrase this Court has held is similar to the general 

discovery limitation of Super. Ct. Civ. R. 26(g)(1)(C), Fridman v. Orbis Bus. Intel. 

Ltd., 229 A.3d 494, 505, 513 (D.C. 2020).  While plaintiffs did not receive all the 

discovery they sought, they received substantial discovery.  JA1179-80, ¶¶ 4-5.   

Plaintiffs’ “as applied” challenge to the Act, Br. 37-39, fails for an additional 

reason.  Despite complaining that the Superior Court “severely limit[ed] discovery” 

in this case, id. 37, plaintiffs never appealed the court’s discovery order as an “abuse 

of discretion” under the Anti-SLAPP Act, Fridman, 229 A.3d at 513.  They cannot 

show that the Act is unconstitutional as applied to them when they failed to allow 

this Court to consider whether the denial of some discovery ran afoul of the Act 

itself.  See Dubose v. United States, 213 A.3d 599, 605 (D.C. 2019) (failure to follow 

requirements of statute was “fatal” to plaintiff’s as-applied challenge to statute).4 

                                                 
 
4 Plaintiffs also assert that the Act violates the First Amendment because corporate 
or institutional defendants invoke its protection.  Br. 34.  But this case, in which 
plaintiffs sued entities and an individual, shows why the Act is needed: to protect 
against lawsuits “filed by one side of a . . . public policy debate aimed to . . . prevent 
the expression of opposing points of view.”  Mann, 150 A.3d at 1226 (quotation 
omitted).  And even plaintiffs’ incomplete list, Br., Ex. A (only 44 anti-SLAPP 
motions in 13 years), shows a number of anti-SLAPP motions filed by individuals. 



 18 

II. THE SUPERIOR COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED PLAINTIFFS’ 
CLAIMS UNDER THE ANTI-SLAPP ACT. 

There is no dispute that defendants made the prima facie showing that the 

Anti-SLAPP Act applies.  The Report’s subject matter—investigation of charges of 

APA and government collusion to permit psychologists’ involvement in abusive in-

terrogations of detainees—is plainly an “issue of public interest.”  D.C. Code §§ 16-

5501(1)(A)(ii) to (3), 5502(b).  The Act thus applies to protect against litigation that 

seeks to “chill or silence speech.”  Mann, 150 A.3d at 1229.5 

Plaintiffs thus must show their claims are “likely to succeed on the merits.”  

D.C. Code § 16-5502(b).  This means establishing that “a jury properly instructed 

on the law, including any applicable heightened fault and proof requirements, could 

reasonably find for the claimant on the evidence presented.”  Mann, 150 A.3d at 

1236.  The Act’s test “mirror[s]” the Rule 56 summary judgment standard.  Id. at 

1237, 1238 n.32.  Because plaintiffs are public officials, the requisite fault standard 

here is actual malice.  In an actual malice case, the “heightened fault and proof re-

quirements” include the “clear and convincing evidence” standard.  Id. at 1236. 

                                                 
 
5 Plaintiffs complain that after they threatened a lawsuit in 2016 a planned supple-
mental report by Sidley to APA “never materialized.”  Br. 11.  But one consequence 
of a defamation lawsuit like this is to inhibit further speech, a problem the Anti-
SLAPP Act exists to remedy. 
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A. Plaintiffs Are Public Officials Who Must Prove Actual Malice. 

The Superior Court properly held that plaintiffs, military psychologists and 

colonels in the U.S. Army who exercised substantial policymaking responsibility 

relating to the War on Terror, are public officials for purposes of this lawsuit.6  

Plaintiffs now seek to downplay their roles but cannot erase what their Com-

plaint concedes about their important positions and substantial responsibilities re-

garding army psychologists and the treatment of detainees.  The Complaint explains 

that each plaintiff held the rank of an Army colonel and each “took a leading role in 

creating policies and procedures” regarding national security interrogations “in the 

aftermath of the abuses at interrogation sites after 9/11.”  JA247-49, ¶¶ 39, 41-42, 

JA272.  Banks was Director of Psychological Applications for the Army’s Special 

Operations Command, where he provided “oversight for all Army Special Opera-

tions Psychologists.”  JA247, ¶ 39.  “As the abuses at Abu Ghraib began to emerge, 

Col. Banks was ordered to work with the Army’s Inspector General to investigate 

and decide how to prevent future abuses.”  Id.  He also authored the Inspector Gen-

eral’s report on detainee operations in Iraq and Afghanistan.  JA273, ¶ 125.   

Similarly, the Complaint alleges that Dunivin served as Chief of the 

                                                 
 
6 The actual malice standard is applied to two classes of defamation plaintiffs: public 
officials and public figures.  The public-figure test is different, see, e.g., Salem Me-
dia Grp., Inc. v. Awan, 301 A.3d 633, 647 (D.C. 2023), and not involved here.   
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Departments of Psychology at Walter Reed Army Medical Center and Walter Reed 

National Military Medical Center and also “w[as] called upon to help put in place 

policies to prohibit abuses.”  JA248, 258, JA272, ¶ 122.  She created policies 

concerning interrogations, including authoring the protocol for military 

psychologists at Guantanamo, and “consulted with commanders in Guantanamo, 

Iraq, and the Army Medical Command.”  JA248-49, ¶ 41, ¶¶ 114-15, 270, 273.  

James served as Director of Behavioral Science at Guantanamo and at Abu Ghraib 

in the wake of the infamous abuses.  JA249, ¶ 42.  He was charged with “drafting 

policies and instituting procedures to prevent abusive interrogations” and training 

personnel on how to interview detainees.  JA272, ¶ 123.  And plaintiffs cannot 

dispute that the statements in the Report that they challenge concerned their 

involvement in APA’s efforts to address these and related issues. 

Nothing more is needed to conclude that these high-ranking officers are 

“public officials” required to prove that defendants made statements about them with 

actual malice.  “Where a position in government has such apparent importance that 

the public has an independent interest in the qualifications and performance of the 

person who holds it, beyond the general public interest in the qualifications and 

performance of all government employees,” the public-official test is satisfied and 

actual malice applies.  Rosenblatt v. Baer, 383 U.S. 75, 86 (1966).  The Superior 

Court correctly held that plaintiffs’ “positions comfortably fit within the hierarchy 
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of public officials as provided in Rosenblatt,” noting the Complaint’s “plethora of 

examples” demonstrating their substantial responsibilities, including those affecting 

the safety of detainees subject to military interrogation.  JA2210. 

1. The Superior Court Correctly Applied the Law. 

The public-official determination is a “question of law to be resolved by the 

court,” Thompson, 134 A.3d at 312 (quotation omitted), not a potential jury issue, as 

plaintiffs mistakenly suggest, Br. 1.  It is thus for a court to determine if a plaintiff 

qualifies under the expansive public-official test.  Here the admissions in plaintiffs’ 

Complaint conclusively demonstrate their public-official status. 

While the public-official “designation ‘applies at the very least to those 

among the hierarchy of government employees who have, or appear to the public to 

have, substantial responsibility for or control over the conduct of governmental af-

fairs,’” Thompson, 134 A.3d at 312 (emphasis added) (quoting Rosenblatt, 383 U.S. 

at 85), it is also well settled that “[t]he public official category is by no means limited 

to upper echelons of government,” 1 Robert D. Sack, Sack on Defamation § 5:2.1 

(2019).  In particular, one need not have ultimate decision-making authority to qual-

ify as a public official.  See, e.g., Harvey v. CNN Inc., 48 F.4th 257, 262, 273 (4th 

Cir. 2022) (aide to U.S. Congressman). 

Consistent with these principles, this Court has held that far lower-ranking 

government officials than plaintiffs here with far less weighty responsibilities were 
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public officials.  In Thompson, the plaintiff was a special agent within an office of 

the Treasury Inspector General who supervised “five to seven employees.”  134 A.3d 

at 311-12.  This Court emphasized that he had “access to sensitive databases and 

information.”  Id. at 312.  In Beeton v. District of Columbia, the plaintiff was a 

correctional officer, who was known as “corporal.”  779 A.2d 918, 922, 924 (D.C. 

2001).  Plaintiffs fail to cite either case.   

Courts in D.C. and elsewhere consistently have held that military officers with 

duties like plaintiffs readily meet the standard.  See, e.g., MacNeil v. CBS, Inc., 66 

F.R.D. 22, 25 (D.D.C. 1975) (Marine colonel who participated in public affairs lec-

tures); Arnheiter v. Random House, Inc., 578 F.2d 804, 804-05 (9th Cir. 1978) (Navy 

captain commanding ship); Davis v. Costa-Gavras, 595 F. Supp. 982, 987 (1984) 

(U.S. military commander in Chile).  And here the Complaint acknowledges not only 

“Plaintiffs’ ranks,” Br. 42, but also their significant leadership roles and substantial 

policy duties commensurate with that high rank.  Indeed, a premise of the Complaint 

is that these plaintiffs “stepped up” into one of the most high-profile issues of na-

tional security policy in recent memory, becoming “directly and energetically in-

volved in drafting policies and implementing training and oversight” relating to na-

tional security interrogations.  JA239-40.   

Plaintiffs cite affidavits, but nothing in them alters the admissions in the Com-
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plaint.  See, e.g., JA1462 (affidavit reiterating that Banks had “oversight” responsi-

bility for Special Operations Command psychologists).  In fact, one affidavit plain-

tiffs highlight, Br. 6, explained that Banks shared responsibility for “detention center 

operations” at Bagram, Afghanistan and exercised authority there to “stop[] the 

abuse of at least one detainee,” have “the offending individual permanently removed 

from the facility,” and “to make sure no [further] abuse occurred while he was re-

sponsible for interrogations or for overall detainment.”  JA1754.  Plaintiffs’ affida-

vits underscore why they are public officials. 

Strikingly, plaintiffs cite no case holding that any military officer of plaintiffs’ 

rank and responsibilities was not a public official.  But that is unsurprising.  After 

all, “[t]he conduct of the military . . . during wartime is a matter of the highest public 

concern, and speech critical of those responsible for military operations is well 

within ‘the constitutionally protected area of free discussion.’”  CACI Premier Tech., 

Inc. v. Rhodes, 536 F.3d 280, 294 (4th Cir. 2008) (quoting Rosenblatt, 383 U.S. at 

85).  Indeed, the positions of “lieutenant colonel[] and colonel in the Regular Army” 

are of such importance that their appointments must be “made by the President, by 

and with the advice and consent of the Senate.”  10 U.S.C. § 531(a)(2).   

The very impetus for the actual malice rule established in New York Times v. 

Sullivan was to ensure that “debate on public issues should be uninhibited, robust, 

and wide-open.”  376 U.S. 254, 270 (1964).  For that reason, it has long been 
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emphasized that “[c]riticism of those responsible for government operations must be 

free, lest criticism of government itself be penalized.”  Rosenblatt, 383 U.S. at 85; 

see also, e.g., Garrison v. Louisiana, 379 U.S. 64, 77 (1964) (recognizing “the 

paramount public interest in a free flow of information to the people concerning 

public officials, their servants”).  Plaintiffs are prototypical public officials for 

purposes of applying the constitutional actual malice standard. 

2. Plaintiffs Rely on a Misstatement of the Law. 

Plaintiffs assert that the Superior Court erred by failing to use a “three-legged 

stool” public-official test found in a 1989 First Circuit case, Kassel v. Gannett Co., 

875 F.2d 935, 939-40 (1st Cir. 1989) (emphasis omitted); Br. 41.  But Kassel does 

not represent “the U.S. Supreme Court’s public official analysis,” Br. 41; it has never 

been cited by the Supreme Court or any D.C. court.  This Court applies the Supreme 

Court’s Rosenblatt test.  See Thompson, 134 A.3d at 312. 

Specifically, plaintiffs argue that it is relevant that they purportedly lacked 

“access” to the media and did not “assum[e] the risk of media attention.”  Br. 43.  

Regardless of whether that assertion is even supported by plaintiffs’ pleading, this 

Court has never before suggested that a factual inquiry into a plaintiff’s access to the 

media is necessary before deeming any government official to be a public official.  

This Court has noted that “superior access to the media” was one justification for 

applying the actual malice standard to public officials.  Moss v. Stockard, 580 A.2d 
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1011, 1029 (D.C. 1990).  But even then, this Court also separately noted, as a first 

justification, “the public’s strong interest in robust and unfettered debate concerning 

issues related to governmental affairs”—without mentioning access to the media.  

See id.  In then analyzing whether government personnel were “public officials,” 

this Court has never required any factual determination relating to access to the 

media.  See, e.g., Beeton, 779 A.2d at 924; Thompson, 134 A.3d at 312.  Nor has the 

Supreme Court.  See Rosenblatt, 383 U.S. at 85-86.7 

3. Public-Official Status Should Be Decided Early.  

The Superior Court was correct to rule at the anti-SLAPP stage of the case 

that plaintiffs are public officials.  Delaying resolution of this question of law until 

later in a case “would prolong the litigation process and render the special motion to 

dismiss ineffective when it comes to public figures, who would be required to prove 

                                                 
 
7 Plaintiffs cite Gertz v Robert Welch Inc., 418 U.S. 323 (1974); Br. 41, which ob-
served generally that “[p]ublic officials and public figures usually enjoy significantly 
greater access to the channels of effective communication,” 418 U.S. at 343-44 (em-
phasis added), but it too nowhere establishes a test for public official status based on 
access to the media.  One treatise suggests that “level of access to the media” may 
be a factor to be weighed in “close cases.”  1 Rodney A. Smolla, Law of Defamation 
§ 2:108 (2d ed.) (West 2023).  But this is not a close case.  Indeed, the same treatise 
elsewhere notes that “military personnel” are “routinely classified as public officials, 
particularly when they exercise some degree of policy-making authority,” id. 
§ 2:106 (emphasis added), and that “[t]he exercise of policy-making authority . . . 
may exist at the lowest echelons of a particular governmental agency, rendering even 
employees at the lowest rungs of authority public officials,” id. § 2:108. 
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actual malice at trial, but could defeat the special motion with a lesser showing of 

fault.”  Fridman, 229 A.3d at 507.  It would undermine the well-recognized interest 

in having public-official status decided “at the earliest opportunity that the state of 

the record will permit,” Sack, supra § 5:4.2, at 5-84, and for claims subject to First 

Amendment protection to be adjudicated at the earliest opportunity. 

“To preserve First Amendment freedoms and give reporters, commentators, 

bloggers, and tweeters (among others) the breathing room they need to pursue the 

truth, the Supreme Court has directed courts to expeditiously weed out unmeritori-

ous defamation suits.”  Kahl v. Bureau of Nat’l Affs., Inc., 856 F.3d 106, 109 (D.C. 

Cir. 2017); Fridman, 229 A.3d at 507 (Anti-SLAPP Act intended to “dispos[e] of a 

meritless lawsuit early in the litigation” (quotation omitted)). 

The Superior Court correctly ruled that plaintiffs are public officials whose 

claims are subject to the actual malice standard. 

B. Plaintiffs Cannot Demonstrate Actual Malice. 

Establishing actual malice requires a showing, by clear and convincing 

evidence, that the defendant knew that the statements challenged by a plaintiff were 

false, had a “high degree of awareness of . . . probable falsity,” or “in fact entertained 

serious doubts as to the truth of his publication.”  St. Amant, 390 U.S. at 731; N.Y. 

Times Co., 376 U.S. at 279-80.  This is a “subjective” standard requiring evidence 

of the speaker’s state of mind, specifically whether “the defendant actually 
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entertained a serious doubt” about the truth of the statements.  McFarlane v. 

Sheridan Square Press, Inc., 91 F.3d 1501, 1508 (D.C. Cir. 1996). 

The “clear and convincing” evidence standard, which courts apply at the 

summary judgment and anti-SLAPP stages, see Mann, 150 A.3d at 1253, is 

“significantly more onerous than the usual preponderance of the evidence standard,” 

Tavoulareas, 817 F.2d at 776.  It requires that “the ultimate factfinder [have] an 

abiding conviction that the truth of [the] factual contentions [is] ‘highly probable.’”  

Colorado v. New Mexico, 467 U.S. 310, 316 (1984). 

Actual malice is thus a “daunting” standard.  McFarlane, 91 F.3d at 1515.  

“[V]ery few public [officials]” can satisfy it, Fridman, 229 A.3d at 509, and affir-

mance of summary dispositions for defendants in actual malice cases is common, 

see, e.g., id. at 511; Jankovic v. Int’l Crisis Grp., 822 F.3d 576, 597 (D.C. Cir. 2016); 

Kahl, 856 F.3d at 117. 

The Superior Court, after properly considering “the totality of the record in 

this case,” including “the various arguments that Plaintiffs advance,” JA2219, 

rightly concluded that plaintiffs’ evidence did not clear that very high bar.8   

                                                 
 
8 Plaintiffs quote dictum in Hutchinson v. Proxmire, 443 U.S. 111, 120 n.9 (1979), 
for the proposition that actual malice “‘does not readily lend itself to summary dis-
position.’”  Br. 47.  But in Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242 (1986), the 
Supreme Court clarified that Hutchinson simply “acknowledg[ed]” that the Court 
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1. Plaintiffs’ Purported Direct Evidence Cannot Establish 
Actual Malice by Clear and Convincing Evidence. 

What plaintiffs call “direct evidence” of actual malice, Br. 51, is no evidence 

at all.  Plaintiffs feature non-specific allegations of falsity that are not tied to specific 

statements in the Report, e.g., Br. 9, 51, and that say nothing about Sidley’s state of 

mind when submitting the Report.  In the few places where plaintiffs do address 

specific statements, they misstate what the Report said and otherwise fail to present 

evidence that Sidley published any statements about them with knowledge of falsity 

or actual subjective doubts as to falsity. 

a. Plaintiffs’ Generalized Allegations Are Insufficient. 

Generalized complaints about an alleged false “overarching narrative,” Br. 52, 

or broad complaints by others about unspecified aspects of the Report, id. 9, 51, fail 

to satisfy plaintiffs’ burden.  As the D.C. Circuit made clear in Tavoulareas, “defa-

mation plaintiffs cannot show actual malice in the abstract; they must demonstrate 

actual malice in conjunction with a false defamatory statement.”  817 F.2d at 794.9  

                                                 
 
was reluctant to endorse special protections for defamation defendants.  Id. at 256 
n.7.  Since then, as noted above, courts have commonly affirmed summary judgment 
in public-figure defamation cases, and it is now firmly established that “the Supreme 
Court has directed courts to expeditiously weed out unmeritorious defamation suits.” 
Kahl, 856 F.3d at 110 (directing summary judgment for lack of actual malice). 
9 Plaintiffs’ contention that the Superior Court failed to conduct a “holistic exami-
nation” of evidence of actual malice, Br. 49, is refuted by the court’s careful opinion, 
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As one court applying Tavoulareas emphasized, even if a plaintiff, unlike plaintiffs 

here, could establish actual malice as to “collateral falsehoods”—i.e., false state-

ments about people other than the plaintiff—“this would not establish an inference 

of actual malice with respect to [defendant’s] statements concerning plaintiff” be-

cause “[t]he doubt must be in conjunction with the alleged defamatory statement.”  

Price v. Viking Penguin, Inc., 676 F. Supp. 1501, 1513 (D. Minn. 1988) (citing 

Tavoulareas, 817 F.2d at 794), aff’d, 881 F.2d 1426 (8th Cir. 1989). 

Plaintiffs, however, rely on generalized second-hand characterizations or er-

roneous paraphrases of Sidley’s Report.  For example, they cite an editorial about 

the Report, Br. 2 (linked to at JA1217 n.8), which inaccurately said that APA “col-

luded with officials at . . . the C.I.A.” even though the Report concluded the oppo-

site, JA2247.  Plaintiffs erroneously assert that the Report accused them of colluding 

to clear “obstacles to military psychologists’ participation in abusive interrogations,” 

Br. 2, without a quotation or even a page reference.10 

                                                 
 
which expressly considered plaintiffs’ arguments “[c]ombined,” JA2218.  And while 
“[p]laintiffs are entitled to an aggregate consideration of all their evidence,” that 
evidence must still be “in conjunction with” specific statements challenged as false 
and defamatory.  Tavoulareas, 817 F.2d at 794 & n.43. 
10 Without quoting the Report, plaintiffs suggest that interview notes could contra-
dict the Report saying that “Banks . . . believed sleep deprivation was permitted.”  
Br. 3 & n.11.  But the actual passage that plaintiffs cite, JA2302-03, instead noted 
Banks’ caution not to “automatically” conclude that all types of sleep deprivation 
were “torture,” not that it was automatically permitted, as plaintiffs suggest.   
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What plaintiffs falsely characterize as “admissions,” Br. 51, are not admis-

sions at all.  First, they are generalized after-the-fact statements by people associated 

with APA about Sidley’s Report, not statements by Sidley.  Id. 51-52.  Second, the 

statements merely show that certain people affiliated with APA, in response to at-

tacks by those opposed to the Report’s conclusions, questioned or were open to ques-

tioning unspecified findings in the Report.  Id. at 51.  For example, plaintiffs rely on 

email notes of an August 2016 meeting, a year after the Report’s release, in which 

an unidentified member of the APA Board allegedly said that “the report contains 

many inaccuracies,” without further explanation or context.  JA1460-61; Br. 51.11   

And plaintiffs’ argument fails as a matter of law because it conflates alleged 

evidence of falsity with knowing falsity.  See, e.g., Br. 8, 51.  “[T]here is a significant 

difference between proof of actual malice[] and mere proof of falsity.”  Bose Corp. 

v. Consumers Union, 466 U.S. 485, 511 (1984); Secord v. Cockburn, 747 F. Supp. 

779, 792 (D.D.C. 1990) (“To argue that evidence of actual malice exists by the mere 

fact that subsequent events determine the falsity of a source or statement would be 

tantamount to conflating the actual malice and falsity elements of a libel action.”). 

                                                 
 
11 The email’s author also observed tentatively that unspecified Board members at 
this 2016 meeting “seemed to acknowledge there was no evidence that APA officers 
colluded with the government.”  JA1460 (emphasis added).  Plaintiffs’ brief distorts 
that tentative second-hand observation into a firm declaration that “[m]embers of the 
APA Board admitted privately that there was ‘no evidence’ of collusion,” Br. 8, 
something the email clearly did not say. 
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b. Plaintiffs’ Evidence Regarding the Report’s “Primary 
Conclusion” Is Insufficient. 

As to the only specific Report passages that plaintiffs’ brief discusses, they 

claim that government policies and reports from the early 2000s contradicted what 

plaintiffs characterize as “the Report’s primary false conclusion”: that “existing DoD 

interrogation guidelines” and “‘then-existing DoD guidance’” that APA was urged 

to adopt for its own ethical guidance for psychologists used “high-level concepts and 

did not prohibit techniques such as stress positions and sleep deprivation.”  Br. 10, 

53 (quoting JA2246-47, 2249).  Plaintiffs are wrong. 

1) The Report’s Description of DoD Guidance for 
Psychologists Was Accurate. 

The Report’s observations were accurate; they were about “DoD interrogation 

guidelines” for psychologists supporting interrogations.  JA2247-49, 2466, 2477.  

Plaintiffs misread the Report.  Sidley never said that DoD policies governing inter-

rogators “used high-level concepts and did not prohibit techniques such as stress 

positions and sleep deprivation.”  Br. 53 (quoting JA2249).  As the Report said on 

the same page: the PENS Task Force was considering the issue of “where to draw 

the line for psychologists between unethical and ethical interrogation practices.”  

JA2249 (emphasis added).  After all, the PENS Task Force was part of the American 

Psychological Association; its mandate, as plaintiffs allege, was to “explore the eth-

ical dimensions of psychology’s involvement and the use of psychology in national 
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security-related investigations.”  JA258, ¶ 71 (emphases added). 

The Report made clear in multiple places that it was referring to military pol-

icies specifically applicable to psychologists.  For example, the reference to guide-

lines that “key DoD officials wanted to put in place,” JA2247, was expressly about 

plaintiff Banks discussing at the PENS Task Force draft DoD guidance for psycholo-

gists supporting interrogations.  See, e.g., JA2466 (the draft policy “was distributed 

at the task force meeting and eventually became (almost verbatim) the interrogation 

policy of the Army Medical Command in 2006”). 

The Report also stated that the objective at PENS “was to, at a minimum, 

create APA ethics guidelines that went no farther than—and were in fact virtually 

identical to—the internal guidelines that were already in place at DoD or that the 

key DoD officials wanted to put in place.”  JA2247.  The “virtually identical” lan-

guage is key: a comparison of the draft DoD guidance for psychologists with the 

PENS Task Force Guidelines shows close similarities.  This underscores that the 

Report was addressing DoD guidance for psychologists, compare JA1883-93 (draft 

DoD guidance), with JA491-502 (PENS Guidelines), not DoD policies for interro-

gators, which could not be described as “virtually identical” to the PENS guidelines. 

These guidelines for military psychologists, JA2247-49, did in fact use “high-

level concepts” and did not mention specific prohibited interrogation techniques, just 

as the Report said, JA2249, 2466, 2477 & n.1038.  Thus, if and when DoD policies 
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governing interrogators changed—and plaintiffs admit that “these polices were 

changed a number of times,” JA264, ¶ 92—the high-level nature of the DoD guid-

ance for psychologists meant that it could not be an independent basis for psycholo-

gists to refrain from participating in interrogations.  Thus, whatever the changing 

state of regional DoD policies for interrogators as to specific techniques such as 

sleep deprivation, Br. 7, 11, 55, it is indisputable that these techniques are not men-

tioned in either the DoD guidance for psychologists that Banks circulated at the 

PENS meeting or in the PENS Task Force Guidelines.  JA1883-93, JA491-502. 

It thus does not help plaintiffs’ case that both the DoD guidance and the PENS 

guidelines advised psychologists to familiarize themselves with applicable military 

rules and policies governing interrogations.  Br. 10 (citing JA1244).  Rather than 

prohibiting psychologists’ involvement in specific enumerated interrogation tech-

niques, JA2502-03, both the DoD and PENS guidelines directed psychologists to 

look elsewhere for specifics.  The advice for psychologists to familiarize themselves 

with the ever-changing local policies implemented by DOD or other government 

entities, JA264, ¶ 92, thus confirms the Report’s description of the PENS guidelines 

as “high-level and non-specific,” JA2249. 

Plaintiffs’ criticism that Sidley did not discuss a March 2005 standard 

operating procedure (“SOP”) document for Guantanamo psychologists, Br. 54-55, 

is ill founded.  That document was substantively the same as the draft DoD guidance 
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that Banks distributed at the June 2005 PENS Task Force meeting, JA2466, and that 

the Report addressed in detail: both used high-level concepts like “safe, legal, ethical 

and effective” interrogations; tasked psychologists with being familiar with 

applicable law and rules; required psychologists to report interrogation abuses; and 

did not mention specific prohibited interrogation techniques such as stress positions 

or sleep deprivation.  Compare JA1895, 1900-01 (March 2005 SOP), with JA1883, 

1886 (draft DoD guidance circulated at PENS meeting).  Thus, the DoD guidance 

the Report discussed was not “outdated,” Br. 54, at the time of PENS.12 

2) Evidence of DoD Policies for Interrogators Did 
Not Contradict the Report’s Description of DoD 
Guidance for Psychologists. 

By contrast, the references in plaintiffs’ brief to regional and other military 

policies governing the conduct of interrogators—which, plaintiffs allege, identified 

certain specific prohibited interrogation techniques, Br. 5-6, 55, 70—fail to show 

                                                 
 
12 Plaintiffs also allege that the Report was mistaken in observing that “at the time 
of the [PENS] report . . . the Bush Administration had defined ‘torture’ in a very 
narrow fashion.”  Br. 53; JA2240, 2249.  The Report was correct.  The PENS Task 
Force met in June 2005, JA259, ¶ 75, and the Report expressly identified Department 
of Justice (“DoJ”) memos issued only a month earlier, in May 2005, by the Office 
of Legal Counsel that permitted waterboarding.  The Report thus correctly referred 
to “narrower definitions of torture” that prevailed “at the time” of PENS.  JA2541.  
In any event, plaintiffs ignore that the Report’s reference to narrow DoJ definitions 
of torture related to what “APA officials” knew at the time, JA2249, not plaintiffs.  
And on that score, the Report plainly stated, “[w]e did not find evidence that this 
Justice-Department-memo rational[e] was part of the thinking or motive of APA 
officials.”  JA2532 n.1313 (emphasis added). 
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that the Report’s description of DoD guidance for psychologists is wrong in any 

respect.  See, e.g., Br. 5-6, 70 (citing 2004 “testimony of Patrick Philbin, Associate 

Deputy Attorney General,” which discussed what “the General Safeguards require 

[for] all interrogators,” JA412); 5-6 (citing January 2005 Multi-National Force Iraq 

Policy, rules for “personnel . . . authorized to conduct interrogations,” JA1406). 

The same is true for the other reports or documents that plaintiffs cite in 

passing.  See, e.g., Br. 54 (citing legal opinion provided to APA in June 2014 that 

addressed different matters from those covered in Sidley Report, including 

development of international law regarding torture, JA1242-43 & n.69). 

Plaintiffs’ quotation of Mann’s actual malice holding, Br. 50, is therefore un-

availing.  The topics Sidley’s Report discussed were different from and based on 

different evidence from the topics covered in the reports and other documents plain-

tiffs cite.  In Mann, by contrast, the topic discussed in earlier reports and defendants’ 

articles was the same: “appellants’ statements that Dr. Mann engaged in ‘dishon-

esty,’ ‘fraud,’ and ‘misconduct’” in his climate research.”  150 A.3d at 1253.   

The Superior Court thus properly found plaintiffs’ evidence wanting: “Plain-

tiffs fail to explain whether the entities that issued those governmental reports had 

access to the same documents . . . and witnesses used as sources for the Report” and 

“it is unclear to what extent those reports were commissioned with mandates com-

parable” to Sidley’s or “focused on the same issues.”  JA2215 (emphasis added). 
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3) Mere Evidence of Documents in a Defendant’s 
Possession Does Not Support Actual Malice. 

Even if Sidley had possessed documents that contradicted anything in the Re-

port, the mere possession of such documents is insufficient to show Sidley was sub-

jectively aware of information that rendered false or probably false, see St. Amant, 

390 U.S. at 733, any statement it made about any plaintiff, see Howard v. Antilla, 

294 F.3d 244, 255 (1st Cir. 2002) (defendant’s missing key information among 

“1500 pages of notes and documents in her investigative file” was “at worst, a neg-

ligent failure to connect the dots in a voluminous paper trail,” not actual malice).  

This is because “[a]n honest misinterpretation does not amount to actual malice even 

if the publisher was negligent in failing to read the document carefully.”  Jankovic, 

822 F.3d at 576; Time, Inc. v. Pape, 401 U.S. 279, 290, 292 (1971) (same). 

Plaintiffs’ attempt to marshal what they call “direct” evidence of actual mal-

ice, Br. 50, fails. 

2. Plaintiffs’ Purported Circumstantial Evidence Cannot 
Establish Actual Malice by Clear and Convincing Evidence. 

Plaintiffs’ purported “circumstantial” evidence of actual malice, Br. 57, also 

fails.  It relies on the kinds of assertions courts routinely reject.  Plaintiffs’ incanta-

tion of “preconceived narrative” or “purposeful avoidance,” id. 57, 59, cannot meet 

their burden to show that a reasonable jury could find by clear and convincing evi-

dence that Sidley knowingly made false or probably false statements about them.  
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a. Alleged Preconceived Narrative. 

Plaintiffs assert that Sidley “adhered to a preconceived narrative which as-

sumed Plaintiffs’ culpability.”  Br. 58.  But such a bare allegation is insufficient as 

a threshold legal matter.  A plaintiff’s “argument that [the defendant] had concocted 

a pre-conceived storyline . . . fails to establish actual malice.”  Jankovic, 822 F.3d at 

597; see also Tah v. Glob. Witness Publ’g, Inc., 991 F.3d 231, 241 (D.C. Cir. 2021).  

This is so even where—unlike here—there is “evidence that the defendant was on a 

mission to advance a preconceived story line.”  Jankovic v. Int’l Crisis Grp., 72 F. 

Supp. 3d 284, 316 (D.D.C. 2014) (quotation omitted), aff’d, 822 F.3d 576; see also 

Lohrenz v. Donnelly, 350 F.3d 1272, 1283-85 (D.C. Cir. 2003).  

In any event, plaintiffs’ purported “evidence” of any such “preconceived nar-

rative,” Br. 57-59, is without any factual support.  Plaintiffs argue that (1) Sidley 

relied on and adopted the conclusions put forth by long-time critics and (2) witnesses 

submitted affidavits alleging that Sidley “distorted, omitted information from, or 

otherwise misrepresented their interviews,” a subset of whom also alleged that 

Sidley appeared, during their interviews, to have a preconceived storyline that it was 

intent to prove.  Br. 58-59.  The Superior Court rightly determined that plaintiffs’ 

evidence was insufficient to demonstrate actual malice.  JA2217-18. 

First, the record soundly refutes plaintiffs’ assertion that Sidley simply 

adopted the critics’ viewpoint.  Sidley’s investigation lasted more than eight months, 
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and involved review of over 50,000 documents, interviews of roughly 150 witnesses, 

including over fifty follow-up witness interviews.  As the Superior Court found, 

APA’s “critics” “were only a fraction of the approximately 150 witnesses inter-

viewed and 50,000 documents reviewed.”  JA2218. 

 Second, the affidavits plaintiffs cite merely repeat some interviewees’ “im-

pression” that Sidley had a “preconceived narrative,” without providing any basis 

for that impression or tying it to any alleged false statement in the Report.  Such 

speculation cannot establish actual malice.  As the Superior Court pointed out, plain-

tiffs failed to show when in the course of the investigative process each affiant’s 

interview came and what information Sidley had received prior to those interviews.  

JA2216-17.  These failures render plaintiffs’ “preconceived” charge meaningless.  

See Wash. Post Co. v. Keogh, 365 F.2d 965, 970 (D.C. Cir. 1966) (affidavit does not 

support actual malice without personal knowledge of conclusions in testimony).   

Nor are allegations that the Report omitted certain views of witnesses, among 

the 150 interviewed, evidence of actual malice: “Courts have noted that [authors] 

. . . have to choose which facts to include and which to omit, because [i]t is impos-

sible to print all the facts on which an opinion or belief is based, especially when an 

article comprises a critical analysis.”  Talley v. Time, Inc., 923 F.3d 878, 905-06 

(10th Cir. 2019) (quotations omitted). 

As the Superior Court concluded, “at best” plaintiffs:  
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have shown that Defendants Sidley Austin received con-
tradictory and diverse statements, opinions, and recollec-
tions during the investigative process. . . .  [I]nconsisten-
cies and conflicting recollections are not uncommon in ex-
tensive investigations involving large numbers of wit-
nesses.  Combined with other arguments that Plaintiffs 
have raised, these factors do not support claims that De-
fendants had subjective knowledge of the Report’s falsity 
or acted with reckless disregard for whether or not the 
statements in the Report were false.  

JA2218 (footnote omitted).     

b. Alleged Purposeful Avoidance. 

Plaintiffs’ assertion that Sidley purposefully avoided the truth, Br. 59 (citing 

Harte-Hanks Commc’ns, Inc. v. Connaughton, 491 U.S. 657, 692 (1989)), is merit-

less.  The Superior Court rightly rejected this argument.  JA2218.  The facts of 

Harte-Hanks bear no resemblance to Sidley’s investigation.  There, a newspaper 

based on a single source an implausible story about a candidate for judicial office 

offering a bribe.  See 491 U.S. at 692.  The newspaper also declined to interview a 

key witness or listen to audio tapes of key conversations.  See id.  Courts reject the 

purposeful-avoidance argument where, as here, the situation is “precisely the oppo-

site of [Harte-Hanks],” with a defendant interviewing “numerous sources.”  Levan 

v. Cap. Cities/ABC, Inc., 190 F.3d 1230, 1243 (11th Cir. 1999).13  

                                                 
 
13 The assertion that Sidley did not give Dunivin follow-up questions for clearance 
with DoD, Br. 59, proves the point.  Not following every lead in a thorough investi-
gation is not purposeful avoidance.  Levan, 190 F.3d at 1243. 
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c. Alleged Reliance on Unreliable and Biased Witnesses. 

Plaintiffs’ complaints about three purportedly “biased” witnesses do not 

demonstrate actual malice.  Br. 60-62.  First, plaintiffs again ignore the scope of 

Sidley’s investigation.  This case is thus not comparable to one involving a publisher 

who is alleged to have relied on a single “informant” whose credibility was known 

to be in doubt.  St. Amant, 390 U.S. at 732; Talley, 923 F.3d at 884, 904 (no actual 

malice in investigation “involv[ing] dozens of interviews”).  

Second, even if the record had reflected only a few witness interviews instead 

of more than 200, plaintiffs could not satisfy the actual malice standard.  See, e.g., 

St. Amant, 390 U.S. at 733; Lohrenz, 350 F.3d at 1284 (“That [defendants] acted on 

the basis of a biased source and incomplete information does not demonstrate [actual 

malice] . . . .” (quotation omitted)).  Instead, “the plaintiff must establish that even 

in relying upon an otherwise questionable source the defendant actually possessed 

subjective doubt” as to the truth of the source’s information.  McFarlane, 91 F.3d at 

1508 (emphasis added) (quoting Secord, 747 F. Supp. at 794).  Plaintiffs point to no 

evidence that Sidley “actually possessed subjective doubt” about what it reported.  

Jankovic, 822 F.3d at 597 (quoting McFarlane, 91 F.3d at 1508). 

Third, plaintiffs also fail to identify a single allegedly false statement about 

them that they claim Sidley made in reliance on any of these individuals.  See Br. 

60-62; see also Tavoulareas, 817 F.2d at 794; Biro v. Condé Nast, 963 F. Supp. 2d 
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255, 286-87 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (finding that “[one witness]’s reliability is irrelevant 

to [the defendant]’s alleged actual malice” when “there is no reason to believe—nor 

does the complaint allege—that [the witness] was a source for any of the four re-

maining defamatory passages”), aff’d, 807 F.3d 541 (2d Cir. 2015).   

Fourth, plaintiffs ignore what the Report said about how these individuals fac-

tored into Sidley’s investigation.  The Report explained that “APA critics” Dr. Ste-

phen Soldz and Nathanial Raymond were among those who made charges that 

Sidley thereafter investigated.  JA2244.  As for the third individual, Dr. Trudy Bond, 

Sidley simply reported that Bond—“a member of the Coalition for an Ethical Psy-

chology and Psychologists for Social Responsibility”—sent ethics complaints to the 

APA Ethics Office.  JA2733-34, 2755.  There is no basis to claim that Sidley “over-

relied,” or relied at all, on Bond, Br. 61, and plaintiffs do not provide one. 

d. Alleged Motive To Defame and Bias and Ill Will. 

Nor does plaintiffs’ contention that Sidley had a “motive to defame” them or 

“ill will,” Br. 63, support actual malice.  First, “caselaw resoundingly rejects the 

proposition that a motive to disparage someone is evidence of actual malice.”  Nunes 

v. WP Co., 513 F. Supp. 3d 1, 8 (D.D.C. 2020) (quotation omitted), aff’d per curiam, 

2022 WL 997826 (D.C. Cir. 2022). 

Second, the allegation that Sidley used what plaintiffs call “loaded terms” like 

“collusion,” “joint venture,” “joint enterprise,” and “deliberate avoidance,” Br. 13, 
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63, does not show ill will or support actual malice.  Inferring actual malice from the 

“‘language’ of the publication” is an “error of constitutional magnitude.”  Greenbelt 

Coop. Publ’g Ass’n v. Bresler, 398 U.S. 6, 10 (1970).  It is particularly inappropriate 

here: plaintiffs ignore that the Report used the term “collusion” because APA 

charged Sidley to examine allegations that APA “engaged in activity that would 

constitute collusion” with the government.  JA1780.14  And in any event the Report 

defined its use of the term collusion in a detailed passage.  JA2301-02.15  

Third, plaintiffs’ claim that Sidley leaked the Report to the New York Times, 

Br. 8, 63-64, is baseless.  It is undisputed that someone leaked a pre-release copy of 

the Report to the Times, which, starting on July 10, 2015, displayed a PDF copy of 

the Report via its website.  But the affidavit of plaintiffs’ computer forensics expert 

said only that metadata in that PDF copy indicates that the PDF file was originally 

                                                 
 
14 The Report did not accuse plaintiffs of criminal behavior.  Its use of terms like 
“joint venture” or “joint enterprise,” Br. 13, 63, as analogies for plaintiffs working 
with APA’s Behnke to accomplish joint objectives, e.g., JA2246-47, 2600, 2623, 
provides no evidence that Sidley doubted the truth of any of its conclusions.  And 
the Report’s reference to “deliberate avoidance,” concerned APA officials, not any 
plaintiff, JA2304, and for that reason too is not evidence of ill will toward plaintiffs. 
15 Plaintiffs cite anonymous notes reflecting David Hoffman answering questions at 
an August 2015 APA Council meeting, alleging that he said that the term “behind-
the-scenes communication” would have been more accurate than “collusion.” 
Br. 63; JA1650.  This allegation is beside the point.  Even if the notes were not in-
admissible out-of-context hearsay supplied by an anonymous person, “collusion” 
was a term that the Report defined precisely for readers. 
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converted from a Word document on July 2, 2015 by Sidley.  JA1568, ¶ 10 

(plaintiffs’ expert); JA1924, ¶ 11 (Sidley expert).  Of course, Sidley, as the Report’s 

author, had earlier converted the Report into a PDF.  That metadata does not show 

who sent the PDF to the Times.  JA1923-25, ¶¶ 8-19. 

Plaintiffs falsely assert that “a Word version” of the Report was leaked to the 

Times and that because APA never received a Word version of the Report, Sidley 

must have been the leaker.  Br. 8.  But plaintiffs’ false assertion that a Word version 

of the Report was sent to the Times is based solely on their misreading of their own 

expert’s affidavit.  Id. (citing JA1568-69, ¶¶ 9-14).  That affidavit says only that the 

PDF version of the Report, of which the Times possessed a copy, had originally been 

converted by Sidley from a Word document, not that anyone sent a Word version to 

the Times.  JA1568, ¶ 9.  Sidley’s expert pointed out plaintiffs’ error, JA1924-25, 

¶ 14-16, but they irresponsibly persist in making it, Br. 8.  Plaintiffs’ misreading of 

their own expert’s affidavit does not “creat[e] a material factual dispute.”  Id. 63. 

Finally, plaintiffs fail to explain how publicizing a Report that was to be pub-

lished anyway could show that Sidley harbored any “ill will,” Br. 62, toward them.16 

                                                 
 
16 Plaintiffs allege that David Hoffman once said “I use the media to fan the flames,” 
Br. 63, but rely on anonymous hearsay, JA1717 ¶ 13.  And they cite no authority 
that publicizing information has any bearing on an author’s awareness of falsity. 
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e. Alleged Negligence or Failure To Follow Proper 
Practices as Evidence of Actual Malice. 

 
Plaintiffs separately argue that they submitted sufficient evidence of negli-

gence if that is the fault standard rather than actual malice.  Br. 1, 45-47.  As noted 

supra p. 2 n.1, that argument is inapplicable.  Sidley’s anti-SLAPP motion was based 

on the actual malice standard, not the negligence standard.  Plaintiffs also argue that 

their purported evidence of negligence should count toward evidence of actual mal-

ice.  Br. 48.  Plaintiffs are wrong on the law and the facts. 

First, “[m]ere negligence does not suffice” for actual malice, Masson v. New 

Yorker Mag., Inc., 501 U.S. 496, 510 (1991), which is “not measured by whether a 

reasonably prudent man would have published, or would have investigated before 

publishing.”  St. Amant, 390 U.S. at 731.  Indeed, not even “an extreme departure 

from professional standards” constitutes actual malice.  Lohrenz v. Donnelly, 223 F. 

Supp. 2d 25, 45 (D.D.C. 2002) (quoting Harte-Hanks, 491 U.S. at 665), aff’d, 350 

F.3d 1272.  Here, nothing plaintiffs allege as to Sidley could establish that its pro-

fessionals “in fact harbored subjective doubt,” Jankovic, 822 F.3d at 589 (emphasis 

added), about any of the Report’s findings.17 

                                                 
 
17 The only D.C. case plaintiffs cite for negligence helping prove actual malice is a 
district court case that predates the case law cited above.  Br. 48, 74 (citing Airlie 
Found., Inc. v. Evening Star Newspaper Co., 337 F. Supp. 421, 429 (D.D.C. 1972)).  
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Second, plaintiffs cannot establish that an extreme departure from profes-

sional standards occurred here.  They contend it was improper that the investigation 

was overseen by APA Special Committee members who, plaintiffs claim, were “in-

volved in the events the Report described and stood to benefit from a report that 

protected them by blaming Plaintiffs.”  Br. 45.  But plaintiffs cannot show that any 

APA board member did actually oversee the Report or had anything to do with any 

part of the Report that involved plaintiffs.  Plaintiffs also allege that Sidley failed to 

inform interviewees that they were “potential targets” and that the APA General 

Counsel advised interviewees that they should not retain counsel.  Id. 46.  But they 

cannot deny that interviewees were fully aware Sidley was conducting an “independ-

ent review” in “a completely independent fashion with the sole objective of ascer-

taining the truth of the allegations,” as Sidley told witnesses like Dunivin in emails 

requesting interviews.  E.g., JA1553. 

f. Alleged Refusal To Retract or Correct. 

Plaintiffs argue that Sidley’s “refusal to correct or retract” its Report could 

support a finding of actual malice.  The Superior Court correctly concluded that 

“Plaintiffs fail[ed] to establish any duty on behalf of Defendants to retract or correct 

                                                 
 
It was criticized by a later case, which emphasized that “[a]s St. Amant makes clear, 
negligence . . . cannot support a finding of actual malice.”  Martin Marietta Corp. v. 
Evening Star Newspaper Co., 417 F. Supp. 947, 958, 960 (D.D.C. 1976). 
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the Report post publication.”  JA2219.  “[T]here is no duty to retract or correct a 

publication, even where [unlike here] grave doubt is cast upon the veracity of the 

publication after it has been released,” Lohrenz, 223 F. Supp. 2d at 56, and plaintiffs’ 

brief here still fails to coherently identify any false statements about them.18   

Plaintiffs also ignore that “[t]he actual malice inquiry focuses on the defend-

ant’s state of mind at the time of publication.”  Kahl, 856 F.3d at 118.  Thus, “the 

inference of actual malice must necessarily be drawn solely upon the basis of the 

information that was available to and considered by the defendant prior to publica-

tion.”  McFarlane, 91 F.3d at 1508.  Plaintiffs’ bare statement that Sidley has not 

agreed to their retraction demands, Br. 64, is thus irrelevant. 

g. The 2018 APA Website Changes and Email Do Not 
Support Actual Malice by Sidley in 2015. 

 For the reasons set forth in APA’s en banc brief in Argument Section V and 

incorporated here by reference, no reasonable jury could find that there was a 2018 

republication of Sidley’s 2015 Report; thus, the August 2018 APA changes to the 

timeline page on it website and email hyperlinking to that page do not support plain-

tiffs’ actual malice allegations.  Br. 64.  And even if plaintiffs’ allegations were to 

                                                 
 
18 Plaintiffs cite a concurrence in the denial of a petition for rehearing for the prop-
osition that refusal to retract is evidence of actual malice.  Br. 73 (citing Tavoulareas 
v. Piro, 763 F.2d 1472, 1477 (D.C. Cir. 1985)).  The panel’s opinion was vacated by 
the en banc D.C. Circuit.  Tavoulareas, 817 F.2d 762.  The en banc opinion does not 
support plaintiffs’ cited proposition. 
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be credited, id. 11-12, 66-68, they still fail: “courts have consistently agreed that 

merely linking to an article should not amount to republication,” Lokhova v. Halper, 

995 F.3d 134, 143 (4th Cir. 2021) (quotation omitted), because “though a link and 

reference may bring readers’ attention to the existence of an article, they do not re-

publish the article,” In re Phila. Newspapers, LLC, 690 F.3d 161, 175 (3d Cir. 2012).  

Therefore, whether or not APA “circulated new instructions for accessing . . . the 

Report” or “included a link for [indirectly] accessing the Report,” Br. 4, 65, an email 

that hyperlinked to a timeline page that itself hyperlinked to dozens of documents, 

including the Report, as a matter of law cannot establish republication. 

This Court can affirm the judgment as to Sidley for an alternative reason sup-

ported by the record, see Wilburn, 957 A.2d at 924: plaintiffs do not even attempt to 

show that, three years after it submitted the Report to APA, Sidley had any involve-

ment in the August 2018 APA timeline changes or email.  Accordingly, plaintiffs’ 

assertion that someone else’s republication in 2018 of Sidley’s 2015 Report is evi-

dence of Sidley’s alleged actual malice, Br. 64, fails as a matter of law. 

This is because the inference of actual malice must be drawn “solely upon the 

basis of the information that was available to and considered by the defendant prior 

to publication.”  McFarlane, 91 F.3d at 1508.  Tellingly, what plaintiffs call their 

“most damning[]” evidence of actual malice—their response complaining about the 

Report—was circulated by plaintiffs “in October 2015,” Br. 9, a month after Sidley 
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submitted and APA published the revised version of the Report, JA245, ¶ 32.  See 

also Jankovic, 494 F.3d at 1086, 1087 (even foreseeable republication does not 

amount to new cause of action against original publisher).  Plaintiffs’ republication 

claims fail to support actual malice. 

*   *   * 

Plaintiffs’ evidence, taken all together, falls far short of enabling a reasonable 

jury to find by clear and convincing evidence that Sidley made a false statement 

about any plaintiff with actual malice. 

C. The Court Appropriately Considered Plaintiffs’ Proof. 

Finally, plaintiffs attempt to reframe arguments already raised as charges that 

the Superior Court “failed to consider core evidence” and impermissibly “decid[ed] 

triable issues of fact and ma[de] inferences against plaintiffs.”  Br. 68-75 (discussing, 

e.g., “government reports in Defendants’ possession,” “preconceived narrative,” and 

“biased and unreliable witnesses”).  The court properly applied the standard set forth 

in the Anti-SLAPP Act, considered the arguments presented, and concluded that 

plaintiffs’ evidence could not support a jury finding of actual malice.19   

                                                 
 
19 Similarly, plaintiffs’ contention that the Superior Court failed to consider their 
defamation by implication claim, Br. 68-69, is meritless.  The “defamation by im-
plication” count of the Complaint repeated a subset of allegations that were part of 
the “entire record,” JA2195, the court considered.  JA343-44, ¶¶ 554-561.  Indeed, 
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Plaintiffs complain that the Superior Court’s summary of plaintiffs’ eviden-

tiary “foundation” did not expressly mention two charts they attached only as exhib-

its to their briefs, including a chart listing purported actual malice support for 219 

sets of statements in the Report.  Br. 69; JA1301-62; see also Br. 53 (citing same 

chart as “direct” evidence of actual malice).  Plaintiffs ignore, however, that the court 

made its decision after “consider[ing] the parties’ pleadings, the relevant case and 

statutory law, and the entire record.”  JA2195 (emphasis added). 

Any complaint that the court did not address arguments plaintiffs failed to 

include in their Superior Court opposition briefs is ill founded.  In 119 pages of anti-

SLAPP briefing in the Superior Court, plaintiffs allotted no space to the application 

of law to evidence included in these exhibits.  The same is true here.  Plaintiffs thus 

waived any argument that the court failed to consider their charts.  See Television 

Cap. Corp. of Mobile v. Paxson Commc’ns Corp., 894 A.2d 461, 470 (D.C. 2006) 

(“Questions not properly raised and preserved during the proceedings under exami-

nation, and points not asserted with sufficient precision to indicate distinctly the 

party’s thesis, will normally be spurned on appeal.”).20 

                                                 
 
plaintiffs ignore that the court’s rejection of their claims on actual malice grounds 
expressly included claims based on “implied facts.”  JA2214. 
20 Plaintiffs’ assertion that their “briefs below presented voluminous evidence” re-
garding the “219 false statements,” Br. 53, is wrong.  They did not include those 
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CONCLUSION 

 The judgment of the Superior Court should be affirmed. 
 
DATED: April 8, 2024   Respectfully submitted, 
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arguments in their briefs; they relegated them to an exhibit; indeed, plaintiffs else-
where concede that their counsel merely “directed the trial court’s attention to this 
exhibit” at the hearing.  Id. 52.  That is an admission of waiver.  See Television Cap. 
Corp., 894 A.2d at 470. 
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STATUTORY ADDENDUM 

D.C. Anti-SLAPP Act of 1970 Excerpts 

D.C. Code § 16-5501.  Definitions. 

For the purposes of this chapter, the term: 
 
(1) “Act in furtherance of the right of advocacy on issues of public interest” means: 
 

(A) Any written or oral statement made: 
 

(i) In connection with an issue under consideration or review by a leg-
islative, executive, or judicial body, or any other official proceeding 
authorized by law; or 
(ii) In a place open to the public or a public forum in connection with 
an issue of public interest; or 
 

(B) Any other expression or expressive conduct that involves petitioning the 
government or communicating views to members of the public in connection 
with an issue of public interest. 
 

(2) “Claim” includes any civil lawsuit, claim, complaint, cause of action, cross-
claim, counterclaim, or other civil judicial pleading or filing requesting relief. 
 
(3) “Issue of public interest” means an issue related to health or safety; environmen-
tal, economic, or community well-being; the District government; a public figure; or 
a good, product, or service in the market place.  The term “issue of public interest” 
shall not be construed to include private interests, such as statements directed pri-
marily toward protecting the speaker’s commercial interests rather than toward com-
menting on or sharing information about a matter of public significance. 
 
(4) “Personal identifying information” shall have the same meaning as provided in 
§ 22-3227.01(3). 
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D.C. Code § 16-5502.  Special motion to dismiss. 
 
(a) A party may file a special motion to dismiss any claim arising from an act in 
furtherance of the right of advocacy on issues of public interest within 45 days after 
service of the claim. 
 
(b) If a party filing a special motion to dismiss under this section makes a prima facie 
showing that the claim at issue arises from an act in furtherance of the right of ad-
vocacy on issues of public interest, then the motion shall be granted unless the re-
sponding party demonstrates that the claim is likely to succeed on the merits, in 
which case the motion shall be denied. 
 
(c) 

(1) Except as provided in paragraph (2) of this subsection, upon the filing of 
a special motion to dismiss, discovery proceedings on the claim shall be 
stayed until the motion has been disposed of. 

 
(2) When it appears likely that targeted discovery will enable the plaintiff to 
defeat the motion and that the discovery will not be unduly burdensome, the 
court may order that specified discovery be conducted.  Such an order may be 
conditioned upon the plaintiff paying any expenses incurred by the defendant 
in responding to such discovery. 
 

(d) The court shall hold an expedited hearing on the special motion to dismiss, and 
issue a ruling as soon as practicable after the hearing.  If the special motion to dismiss 
is granted, dismissal shall be with prejudice. 
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